FILED

SEP 04, 2014

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

No. 32268-8-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ERIC M. HARRIS, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519
Burkhart & Burkhart, PLLC
6 ½ N. 2nd Avenue, Suite 200
PO Box 946
Walla Walla, WA 99362
Tel: (509) 529-0630
Fax: (509) 525-0630
Attorney for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

After fatally shooting his brother, Larch, Eric Harris was arrested and advised of his *Miranda* rights. He told police, “I think I should probably have an attorney present.” In spite of his invocation, police continued to speak with Harris and eventually obtained a confession that was introduced against Harris at trial. Harris claimed self-defense, and several eye-witnesses presented conflicting evidence as to what exactly happened and the degree of danger Harris was in when Larch, indisputably, attacked him on his own property. After the State elicited testimony from Harris’s cell mate that Harris showed no remorse for the shooting, Harris sought to introduce rebuttal testimony from two witnesses who observed him shortly after the shooting and would have testified that he was crying and hugged one of the witnesses for a long time. The trial court excluded the defense witnesses from testifying, finding that the testimony was hearsay and was not relevant. Harris was convicted of the lesser included offense of second degree murder with a firearm enhancement, and unlawfully possessing a firearm. Despite a paucity of evidence of even drug use by Harris, let alone chemical dependency, the trial court found that Harris suffered from a chemical dependency and ordered him to participate in a drug treatment program and submit to random urinalysis upon his release. These errors require remand.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1: The trial court erred in denying Harris's CrR 3.5 motion to suppress statements.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2: The trial court erred in entering finding of fact 2.4 that Harris's request for counsel was equivocal.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3: The trial court erred in excluding defense witness testimony that was relevant to rebut the testimony of an inmate witness that Harris was not remorseful about the shooting.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 4: The trial court erred in finding Harris suffered from a chemical dependency that contributed to the offense, and imposing affirmative obligations to enter treatment and submit to random urinalysis based on that finding.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ISSUE 1: Did Harris make an unequivocal request for his attorney when initially advised of his *Miranda* rights? YES.

ISSUE 2: Did the trial court deny Harris the ability to present a defense when it excluded defense witnesses who would have testified that Harris was remorseful about the shooting? YES.

ISSUE 3: Is there evidence in the record from which a finding that Harris suffers from a chemical dependency can be supported? NO.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Eric Harris was charged with first degree murder and unlawful possession of a firearm in the shooting death of his brother, Larch Harris. CP 1-3, 9. Numerous witnesses were present at the time. CP 11. Harris left the scene before law enforcement officers arrived and was apprehended the following day. CP 11, 24. Shortly after his arrest, Detective Mike Gilmore interviewed Harris and advised him of his constitutional rights, which Harris acknowledged he understood. CP 24; 1 RP 19. When Gilmore asked if Harris was willing to talk, Harris said, "Well I don't know I think I should probably have an attorney present." CP 24. The following conversation then ensued:

Gilmore: Okay

Harris: I mean, don't you, I mean uh, I don't know well uh let's just get it over with

Gilmore: alright, you sure? Cause it's your prerogative man ...

George: You gotta ...

Gilmore: Um I mean it is what it is uh we've only got one side of it but I don't want to force you into ...

Harris: well there's only gonna be one side, the other guy's dead

Gilmore: well I haven't heard from you, see what I'm saying

Harris: k, right

Gilmore: So like I say, I'm not, I'm not gonna push it on ya if, if ya choose to talk to an attorney, that's fine if ya, if ya choose to talk to us that's fine to, but it's it's gotta be your decision man

George: It has to be your decision, Eric

Harris: uh, let's just get it done now.

CP 24-25. Harris then gave a statement implicating himself in the shooting, telling the officers that there had been a fight at his house Thursday or Friday night between Larch¹ and a gentleman named Raymond Peterson. 1 RP 27-28. Afterward, Larch would not leave the property and Harris called 911 to get him to leave. 1 RP 29-30. On Saturday, the day before the shooting, Larch showed up still wanting to fight Peterson, who was also calling Harris about wanting to fight. 1 RP 30.

On the day of the shooting, Harris and a woman named Mary were going to ride a horse, so Harris saddled it and left the halter rope loose so the horse could eat while he had breakfast. 1 RP 31. Harris then saw

¹ Because both brothers and Larch's son Thomas Harris share a last name, for clarity, the Appellant will be referred to as "Harris," the victim will be referenced by his first name, "Larch," and Larch's son (a witness) will be referenced by his first name, "Thomas." No disrespect is intended.

Larch taking the saddle off the horse. 1 RP 31. When asked what he was doing, Larch said the saddle was his and threw it in the back of his truck. 1 RP 31-32. Harris then got a gun out of the back of Larch's truck and fired a warning shot. 1 RP 32. Larch continued to advance on Harris and was hitting him, hard and fast. 1 RP 32-33. Harris fired the gun, not meaning to shoot Larch in the chest. 1 RP 33. Harris denied owning the gun or bringing it out of his house, and he denied knowing what happened to it after the shooting. 1 RP 33, 39. He admitted that he and his brother had fought before and stated, "[I]t was either that or you know, he'd have been, you know, the dominant one, I guess . . . I mean, I had to finish the fight." 1 RP 34-35.

Once the sheriff arrived, Harris ran out back into the field and slept there that night. 1 RP 38. Police searched Harris's house and found parts of the shotgun used in the shooting inside. 1 RP 40. Harris claimed it was just scrap iron. 1 RP 43. He later admitted to firing the gun a couple of times when his brother lived in Idaho. 1 RP 47. Harris was a felon and knew that he was not supposed to possess a firearm. 1 RP 43.

Following a CrR 3.5 hearing, the court found that Harris's request for counsel was equivocal, and that that the further colloquy was necessary to determine whether Harris intended to invoke or waive his right to

counsel. 1 RP 72; CP 374. Following the colloquy, Harris voluntarily waived his right to counsel. 1 RP 72. Accordingly, Harris's statement was admitted at trial. 1 RP 72; 5B RP 899-924; CP 375.

At trial, Harris proceeded on self-defense and necessity theories. CP 38, 271, 289. Multiple eyewitnesses testified on behalf of the State as well as the defense. Larch's son, Tom Harris, testified that Harris ran out from the house yelling at Larch about the horse and they started swinging at each other. 3 RP 336-38. He believed that Larch may have swung or kicked first. 3 RP 344. During a lull in the fight, Harris ran into the house. 3 RP 339. He approached Larch and shot the gun into the air. 3 RP 344. They continued to fight, Harris using the gun to hit Larch. 3 RP 344-45. Thomas claimed to have seen the gun the day before when Harris had it and showed it to Larch. 3 RP 346. According to Thomas, the fight was not very serious and nobody was getting hurt. 3 RP 348. They separated to about ten feet and Larch raised his arms, said "Are you really going to shoot your own brother?" and Harris cocked the gun and pulled the trigger. 3 RP 349-50.

Thomas put Larch in the truck while somebody was calling the ambulance. In the meantime, Harris continued to yell at Larch and nearly

slammed the door on Thomas. 3 RP 351. According to Thomas, Harris was shouting, “You think you’re tough now.” 3 RP 352.

Other witnesses’ testimony deviated from Thomas’s testimony in certain respects. Jonathan Elliott, who testified for the State, said that during the confrontation over the saddle, Larch was threatening Harris before throwing the first punch and starting to hit him. 3B RP 446. Elliott turned away as other witnesses left and shut the gate, so he did not see the gun come into play. 3B RP 446-47. When he turned back, he saw Larch punching Harris and Harris backing up. 3B RP 447. Larch was yelling at Harris to shoot him and advancing on him to swing again, and Harris shot him. 3B RP 448. Shortly afterward, Harris came out of the house and gave Elliott a box of shells and told him to go get rid of it. 3B RP 451. Elliott hid the box behind the seat of a car inside a barn, and another witness, Melissa Eldred, hid the gun in the same place. 3B RP 452-53. Elliott also claimed to have seen the gun in Harris’s house the day before the shooting. 3B RP 455. Unlike Thomas, Elliott thought the fight seemed serious and that Larch was really trying to hurt Harris. 3B RP 461.

Holly Wilson, another State’s witness, testified that she was driving up the driveway when she heard a gunshot. 4 RP 495, 498. She

saw Harris with a gun arguing with Larch. 4 RP 498-500. Wilson recalled that Larch raised his hands up and said “What, are you going to shoot – shoot your brother,” and Harris threw a rake at him. 4 RP 500. Larch then ran at Harris and they fought. 4 RP 501. Wilson did not consider the fight serious. 4 RP 502. She disagreed that Harris was swinging the gun at Larch. 4 RP 502. She just remembered Harris lifting the gun and shooting Larch, with an ugly look on his face. 4 RP 503. She also recalled that Harris was not really fighting, it was mostly Larch. 4 RP 504.

In addition to eyewitness and forensic testimony, the State also called Tessa Proctor, who testified that she saw Harris at her house the night before and he was sawing on a gun. 5B RP 943-45. According to Proctor, Harris told her he needed the gun for protection. 5B RP 945.

Lastly, the State called Harris’s cellmate, Shane Lyng, to testify about information he received from Harris during their incarceration. 6 RP 1037, 1044. According to Lyng, Harris told him about sawing off the shotgun the day before the shooting. 6 RP 1048. There were some other firearms at his house that Larch gathered up and took home. 6 RP 1049. Harris went with another person to look for Raymond Peterson’s truck, and they flattened the tires and shot through the window. 6 RP 1050.

When Larch arrived the next morning, Harris was not happy about being disturbed. 6 RP 1051. Larch yelled at him about leaving the horse saddled and Harris said “Fuck this,” and went inside to get his shotgun. 6 RP 1052. Larch was yelling, and after Harris fired a warning shot, Larch attacked him, punching and yelling him. 6 RP 1052-53. Harris went down, and then rolled up and shot Larch. 6 RP 1053. Harris initially tried to shoot and was not able to because the safety was engaged, so he disengaged the safety and shot Larch. 6 RP 1055. He told Thomas, “Get him out of here,” went back to the house, and handed off the shotgun and the box of shells and said to get rid of them. 6 RP 1053. According to Lyng, Harris never expressed any remorse over the shooting. 6 RP 1056.

After the State rested, Harris proffered two witnesses who would rebut Lyng’s testimony that Harris never expressed remorse. 6B RP 1156-57, 1161. The trial court excluded both witnesses on the grounds that whether Harris felt remorse “doesn’t have to do with the mental state at the time of the incident” and that Harris’s tears amounted to a nonverbal assertion of fact that was inadmissible under the hearsay rule. 6B RP 1159, 1167-68, 7 RP 1216.

Several defense witnesses testified about the altercation at Harris’s house a few nights before the shooting. Jennifer Maners described Larch

coming to Harris's house several times that night and violently attacking her sister. 6 RP 1072-73. Several people tried to stop the fight, and eventually Larch started fighting with somebody else who arrived at the house. 6 RP 1076. Harris intervened and the fight eventually ended, but Larch continued to come back to Harris's house and try to enter, until Harris called the police. 6 RP 1077-78.

Similarly, Raymond Peterson testified about being attacked by Larch at Harris's house while Larch was fighting with his wife. 6B RP 1119-20. Harris and some other people intervened to break up the fight and Peterson left. 6B RP 1122.

Gerald Gurl testified that on the morning of the shooting, he went with Harris to try to find Mary. Gurl claimed that he wanted to find Peterson and slashed the tires on his truck. 6B RP 1128-29. He denied that Harris was armed or damaged the truck. 6B RP 1130. Eventually they picked Mary up and went back to Harris's house. 6B RP 1131. In describing the fatal altercation, Gurl saw Larch and Harris argue and it looked like Larch was going to attack him, but Harris ran back inside the house. 6B RP 1137. Harris fired the warning shot and Larch ran at Harris and kicked and punched him. 6B RP 1138-39. Harris was getting beaten badly and was trying to get Larch to leave, and as Gurl turned to go back

into the house he heard a gunshot. 6B RP 1139-40. Gurl called 911 and Harris and the other people present left. 6B RP 1141-42.

Melissa Eldred testified that she was inside when she heard the argument between Larch and Harris. 7 RP 1222. She asked Gurl to go outside and see what was going on, and Gurl came back in and said it was two brothers fighting. 7 RP 1222. They heard the fight escalate, so Eldred went back outside where she saw Larch attacking Harris. 7 RP 1222-23. She described the attack as violent. 7 RP 1224. She went back into the house and Harris came in and got the gun. 7 RP 1225. Harris fired a warning shot and Larch continued to approach Harris in an aggressive manner. 7 RP 1226. Harris was continuing to tell Larch to get off his property, and Larch was coming toward Harris, yelling. 7 RP 1226-27. When Larch came at him again, Harris pulled the trigger. 7 RP 1228. Eldred described Larch as the aggressor and Harris tried to back away but Larch kept coming at him. 7 RP 1228-29.

Mary Krieger also described the previous fight at Harris's house, where she saw Larch kicking his wife Jamie in the ribs as hard as he could. 7B RP 1325, 1327. She tried to pull Larch off and he punched her twice. 7B RP 1326-27. Harris also tried to pull Larch away and ended up fighting with Larch too. 7B RP 1327-28. Raymond Peterson was arriving

at the house as the fight had finished, and Larch then attacked Peterson. 7B RP 1328-29. Several people then intervened to break up the fight and Peterson eventually was able to run out of the room. 7B RP 1330-31. Larch chased Peterson out of the house and later came back to the house, yelling outside the windows and threatening to shoot them. 7B RP 1331-32. He refused to leave when Harris asked, and Harris had to call the police for help. 7B RP 1333. Larch disappeared about the time the police lights were coming down the road. 7B RP 1334.

On the day of the shooting, Krieger testified that she and Harris were going to ride the horse. 7B RP 1338. After Larch put the saddle in the back of his truck, he and Harris started yelling and Larch swung on Harris. 7B RP 1340. While Larch was hitting Harris, he screamed at him, "You better go get your gun." 7B RP 1342. Harris ran toward the house and came back in the yard and fired a warning shot in the air. 7B RP 1342-43. He told Larch to leave, and Larch refused. 7B RP 1343. Harris then ran up to Larch and struck Larch in the side of the face with the gun. 7B RP 1343. Larch started to swing on Harris and Harris was backing away. 7B RP 1344. She could not see Harris behind a truck, but she saw Larch standing over him, still trying to hit him, as the second shot went off and she heard Larch say, "You shot me in my lung." 7B RP 1347-48. After the shot, Krieger ran inside and told people to leave. 7B RP 1348.

She got in the truck and tried to drive Larch to the hospital, but she could not get the truck in gear. 7B RP 1349. Harris's demeanor was upset after he shot Larch. 7B RP 1351.

The jury acquitted Harris of the first degree murder charge but convicted him of the lesser included offense of second degree murder with a firearm enhancement and unlawfully possessing a firearm. 8 RP 1529-30, CP 346-51. The court rejected Harris's request for an exceptional sentence downward and sentenced him to 204 months' imprisonment on the murder charge with an additional 60 months consecutive for the firearm enhancement. 8 RP 1564, CP 386. The court also found that Harris suffered from a chemical dependency and ordered drug and alcohol treatment and random UA's upon his release. 8 RP 1565, 1567, CP 397, 401. Harris timely appeals. CP 395.

V. ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in finding Harris's request for counsel was equivocal and in admitting his statement made after invoking his right to counsel.

If, in the course of a custodial interrogation, a suspect requests counsel, the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present. *Edwards*

v. Arizona, 451 U. S. 477, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 38 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981); *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 474, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966); *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wn.2d 30, 35, 653 P.2d 284 (1982), *overruled on other grounds by Davis v. U.S.*, 512 U.S. 452, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994). This rule prevents police “from badgering a defendant into waiving previously asserted *Miranda* rights.” *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 458 (*quoting Michigan v. Harvey*, 494 U.S. 344, 350, 110 S. Ct. 1176, 108 L.Ed.2d 293 (1990)).

Invocation of the right to counsel “requires, at a minimum, some statement that can reasonably be construed to be an expression of a desire for the assistance of an attorney.” *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 459 (*quoting McNeil v. Wisconsin*, 501 U.S. 171, 178, 111 S. Ct. 2204, 115 L.Ed.2d 158 (1991)). However, mere reference to an attorney does not require cessation of questioning; the request for counsel must be unambiguous. *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 459. To meet this standard, the accused “must articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney.” *Id.*

In *Davis*, where the accused stated, “Maybe I should talk to a lawyer,” the U.S. Supreme Court held that the remark was not a request

for counsel. *Id.* at 462. Similar statements in which the accused “maybe” or “might” want a lawyer, or questions whether a lawyer is needed, have likewise been held not to constitute unequivocal requests for counsel. *See, e.g., State v. Radcliffe*, 164 Wn.2d 900, 904, 194 P.3d 250 (2008) (defendant “did not know if he needed a lawyer”); *U.S. v. Fouche*, 776 F.2d 1398, 1401 (9th Cir. 1985) (*overruled on other grounds in California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 111 S. Ct. 1547, 113 L.Ed.2d 690 (1991)) (accused said he “might want a lawyer”); *Norman v. Ducharme*, 871 F.2d 1483, 1484 (9th Cir. 1989) (defendant asked police officer whether he should get an attorney); *U.S. v. Ogbuehi*, 18 F.3d 807, 813 (9th Cir. 1994) (defendant asked officer whether he needed a lawyer); *U.S. v. Doe*, 60 F.3d 544, 546 (9th Cir. 1995) (defendant’s mother stated “maybe he ought to see an attorney.”)

Here, unlike the conditional expressions found to be equivocal statements that a lawyer is *perhaps* being requested, Harris clearly stated, “I think I should probably have an attorney present.” CP 24. It is difficult to conceive of an alternative interpretation that would make it difficult to understand Harris’s statement as a request for counsel. *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 459. Because any reasonable law enforcement officer would understand from this statement that Harris wanted his attorney present, questioning should have immediately ceased and Harris’s invocation scrupulously

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