No. 32268-8-III

## FILED

NOV -7 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By\_\_\_\_

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

## OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

v.

## ERIC M. HARRIS

Appellant

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Mathew J. Enzler, WSBA#38105 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Stevens County Prosecutor's Office 215 S. Oak Street Colville, WA (509) 684-7500

##

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- Did Harris make an unequivocal request for his attorney when initially advised of his Miranda rights? NO.
- 2. Did the trial court properly exclude defendant's out of court, self-serving, hearsay statements? YES.

3. Did the trial court have a factual basis for entering a finding that he suffers from a chemical dependency? YES.

III.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts Appellants Statement of the Case, for purposes of this appeal.

IV.

#### ARGUMENT

A. ISSUE ONE: DID HARRIS MAKE AN UNEQUIVOCAL DEMAND FOR AN ATTORNEY PRIOR TO POLICE QUESTIONING? NO.

Any waiver of a suspect's *Miranda* rights must be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made. The State need not prove that the suspect's confession was made when he was totally rational and for the proper motives. Coercive police activity is the necessary predicate to finding that a confession or the waiver of a right is not "voluntary" within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment. *See, e.g., Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 93 L. Ed. 2d 473, 107 S. Ct. 515, 520-21 (1986); *State v. Braun*, 82 Wn.2d 157, 509 P.2d 742 (1973).

The defendant need not understand the legal consequences of giving an incriminating statement, possible defenses available, or the risks involved in speaking to

the police without counsel present. *See State v. McDonald*, 89 Wn.2d 256, 264, 571 P.2d 930 (1977), *overruled in part by State v. Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d 524, 531, 760 P.2d 932 (1988). A defendant's ignorance of the full consequences of his decision does not vitiate the voluntariness of custodial statements. Thus, the detectives accurate statement that the statute of limitations for rendering criminal assistance had run, did not override the defendant's independent decision-making process or coerce her into giving a statement that was ultimately used in her murder prosecution. *State v. Curtiss*, 161 Wn. App. 673, 250 P.3d 496, *review denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1012

The test for the waiver is the "totality of the circumstances." See, e.g., Dutil v. State, 93 Wn.2d 84, 606 P.2d 269 (1980)(emphasis added). The court must look to the totality of the circumstances, including the setting in which the statements were obtained, the details of the interrogation, and the background, experience, and conduct of the accused. United States v. Carroll, 710 F.2d 164 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1008 (1983) (citing Schenckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 36 L. Ed. 2d 854, 93 S. Ct. 2041, 2047 (1973)); State v. Robtoy, 98 Wn.2d 30, 36, 652 P.2d 284 (1982). Waiver may be in writing or oral. State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 678, 683 P.2d 571 (1984) (validity of waiver is not dependent upon signed written waiver form)(emphasis added).

Once a suspect expresses a desire to remain silent, the police **must** scrupulously honor the request and cease questioning. Police may, however, after the passage of a significant period of time and the provision of a fresh set of *Miranda* warnings, reapproach the defendant and resume questioning. *See, e.g., Michigan v. Mosley*, 423

U.S. 96, 96 S. Ct. 321, 46 L. Ed. 2d 313 (1975). A shorter break may be sufficient if, after fresh Miranda warnings, officers limit their questioning to a different crime than the one at issue when the suspect initially expressed a desire to remain silent. State v. Brown, 158 Wn. App. 49, 240 P.3d 1175 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1006 (2011) (two hour break). Suspect's invocation of the right to remain silent must be unequivocal. United States v. Burns, 276 F.3d 439, 441-42 (8th Cir. 2002); Simmons v. Bowersox, 235 F.3d 1124, 1131 (8th Cir. 2001), cert. denied, 122 S. Ct. 280 (2001); cf. Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452, 458-59, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362, 114 S. Ct. 2350 (1994) (right to counsel). A significant body of federal law indicates that an officer who is confronted with an equivocal or ambiguous request to remain silent may simply proceed with questioning. See, e.g., Simmons v. Bowersox, 235 F.3d 1124, 1131 (8th Cir. 2001). cert. denied, 122 S. Ct. 280 (2001); Bui v. DiPaolo, 170 F.3d 232, 239 (1st Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 529 U.S. 1086 (2000); United States v. Mills, 122 F.3d 346, 350-51 (7th Cir.) (citing *United States v. Banks*, 78 F.3d 1190, 1196-97 (7th Cir. 1996)), cert. denied, 118 S. Ct. 637 (1997); Medina v. Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1100-01 (11th Cir. 1995), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1247 (1996).

Case law has held that the following are examples of equivocal assertions of the right to remain silent:

- A suspect's reply of "Nope" to the investigating officer's inquiry about making a formal statement was not an unequivocal assertion of the suspect's right to remain silent which required an end to further questioning. *James v. Marshall*, 322 F.3d 103 (1st Cir. 2003).
- A suspect's refusal to answer a question after agreeing to answer certain specific questions was not a clear and unequivocal assertion of his right to remain silent to subsequent questions. *United States v. Hurst*, 228 F.3d 751 (6th Cir. 2000).

- "I just don't think that I should say anything" and "I need somebody that I can talk to" do not constitute an unequivocal request to remain silent. *Burket v. Angelone*, 208 F.3d 172 (4th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 530 U.S. 1283 (2000).
- Silence in response to certain question not an unequivocal assertion of right to remain silent. *United States v. Mikell*, 102 F.3d 470, 476-77 (11th Cir.1996); *State v. Hodges*, 118 Wn. App. 668, 77 P.3d 375 (2003).
- "I refuse to sign that [the waiver of rights form] but I'm willing to talk to you" not an unequivocal assertion of the right to remain silent. State v. Parra, 96 Wn. App. 95, 99-100, 977 P.2d 1272, review denied, 139 Wn.2d 1010 (1999); accord State v. Manchester, 57 Wn. App. 765, 771, 790 P.2d 217, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1019 (1990).
- "I don't want to talk about it" and "I'd rather not talk about it" are not unequivocal invocations of right to silence. *Owen v. State*, 862 So. 2d 687, 696-98 (Fla. 2003), *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 986(2004).
- "Just take me to jail" is not unequivocal invocation of right to silence. *Ford v. State*, 801 So. 2d 318, 319-20 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), *review denied*, 821 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 2002), *cert. denied*, 537 U.S. 1010 (2002).
- Act of tearing up waiver form is not unequivocal invocation of right to silence. *Sotolongo v. State*, 787 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), *review denied*, 816 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 2002).
- "I can't say more than that. I need to rest." was not an unambiguous invocation of the right to remain silent. *Dowthitt v. Texas*, 931 S.W.2d 244, 257 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996)

On the other hand, case law establishes that the following are examples of unequivocal assertions of the right to remain silent:

- Sixteen year old suspect's statement "I don't want to talk about it. I don't want to remember it . . . ." was an unequivocal assertion of her right to remain silent. *McGraw v. Holland*, 257 F.3d 513 (6th Cir. 2001).
- An arrested individual's statement to a police officer that "I plead the Fifth" was an unequivocal invocation of the right to remain silent. *Anderson v. Terhune*, 516 F.3d 781 (9th Cir. 2008).
- A suspect's statement that "I have nothing else to say" or "I have nothing further to add" was a sufficiently clear invocation of his right to remain silent. *United States v. Reid*, 211 F. Supp. 2d 366, 372 (D. Mass. 2002); "); *People v. Douglas*, 8 A.D.3d 980, 778 N.Y.S.2d 622, 623 (N.Y. App. Div. 2004)), *appeal denied*, 818 N.E.2d 675, 3 N.Y.3d 705, 785 N.Y.S.2d 33 (N.Y. 2004).
- "I don't want to talk to you m----- f-----" is a sufficiently clear invocation of the suspect's right to remain silent. *United States v. Stewart*, 51 F. Supp. 2d

- 1136, 1142-45 (D. Kan. 1999), reconsidered in part, 51 F. Supp. 2d 1147, 1162 (D. Kan. 1999), affirmed, 215 F.3d 1338 (10th Cir. 2000) (unpublished opinion)
- Suspect's statement, "I don't want to tell you guys anything to say about me in court," is an unambiguous and unequivocal invocation of right to remain silent. *State v. Day*, 619 N.W.2d 745, 750 (Minn.2000).

Similar to the right to remain silent, if a suspect invokes his right to have contact with counsel, they must do so clearly and unequivocally. Once a suspect requests counsel, police *must* cease questioning the suspect and cannot try again until counsel has been made available or the suspect himself reinitiates conversation. *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378, 101 S. Ct. 1880 (1981).

Suspect's request for counsel must be unequivocal. *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 458-59, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362, 114 S. Ct. 2350 (1994). "Although a suspect need not speak with the discrimination of an Oxford don, he must articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney." *Id.* A request is equivocal if further questions are needed to determine if the suspect has made a request. *State v. Smith*, 34 Wn. App. 405, 408-09, 661 P.2d 1001 (1983). "Context", however, will not transform an unambiguous invocation of the right to counsel into open-ended ambiguity. *State v. Nysta*, No. 65774-7-I, \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_ (May 7, 2012). An officer who is confronted with an equivocal or ambiguous request for counsel may simply proceed with questioning. *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362, 114 S. Ct. 2350 (1994); *State v. Radcliffe*, 164 Wn.2d 900, 194 P.3d 250 (2008) (repudiating the rule adopted in *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wn.2d 30, 653 P.2d 284 (1982).

Cases have established that the following constitutes ambiguous requests for

#### counsel:

- Suspect's statement "maybe I should talk to a lawyer," was ambiguous, and hence was not a request for counsel. *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 458-59, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362, 114 S. Ct. 2350 (1994).
- Suspect's statement that he did not know how much trouble he was in and did not know if he needed a lawyer was an equivocal request for an attorney. *State v. Radcliffe*, 164 Wn.2d 900, 194 P.3d 250 (2008).
- A suspect's statement that he *might* want to talk to a lawyer constitutes an equivocal request for an attorney. *United States v. Fouche*, 776 F.2d 1398, 1405 (9th Cir. 1985).
- Suspect's question, "[b]ut excuse me, if I am right, I can have a lawyer present through all of this, right?, was an equivocal request for an attorney. *United States v. Younger*, 398 F. 3d 1179, 1187-88 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005).
- An inquiry whether the police officer thinks that the interrogated person in custody needs an attorney does not constitute even an equivocal request for a lawyer. *Norman v. Ducharme*, 871 F.2d 1483, 1486 (9th Cir. 1989)."
- Do I need a lawyer?" or "do you think I need a lawyer" does not rise to the level of even an equivocal request for an attorney. *United States v. Ogbuehi*, 18 F.3d 807, 814 (9th Cir. 1994).
- "What time will I see a lawyer?" not an unambiguous request for counsel. *United States v. Doe*, 170 F.3d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1999).
- "Maybe [I] ought to see an attorney" not a clear and unambiguous request for counsel. *United States v. Doe*, 60 F.3d 544, 546 (9th Cir. 1995).
- "Go ahead and run the lawyers" not a clear and unambiguous request for counsel. *Mincey v. Head*, 206 F.3d 1106, 1132 (11th Cir. 2000), *cert. denied*, 532 U.S. 926 (2001).

On the other hand, the following requests were found to be unambiguous:

- "Can I talk to a lawyer? At this point, I think maybe you're looking at me as a suspect, and I should talk to a lawyer. Are you looking at me as a suspect?" was an unambiguous request for counsel. *Smith v. Endell*, 860 F.2d 1528, 1529 (9th Cir. 1988).
- Suspect's questions "(1) Can I get an attorney right now, man? (2) You can have attorney right now? and (3) Well, like right now you got one?" constituted an unambiguous request. *Alvarez v. Gomez*, 185 F.3d 995, 998 (9th Cir. 1999).
- "My attorney does not want me to talk to you" in tandem with a refusal to sign written waiver of right to attorney form was an unambiguous request for counsel. *United States v. Cheely*, 36 F.3d 1439, 1448 (9th Cir. 1994).

• A suspect's statement during a custodial interrogation that "shit man I gotta talk to my lawyer," is an unequivocal invocation by the suspect of his right to an attorney. *State v. Nysta*, No. 65774-7-I, \_\_\_ Wn.2d\_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_ (May 7, 2012).

The case law is inconsistent on whether the phrase "I think" will render a request for counsel equivocal. *Compare Shedelbower v. Estelle*, 885 F.2d 570, 571 (9th Cir. 1989) (the statement "you" know, I'm scared now. I think I should call an attorney," was a valid invocation of the suspect's right to an attorney); *Cannady v. Dugger*, 931 F.2d 752, 754 (11th Cir. 1991) ("I think I should call my lawyer" was an unequivocal request for counsel); *United States v. Perkins*, 608 F.2d 1064, 1066 (5th Cir. 1979) ("I think I want to talk to a lawyer" was an unequivocal request for counsel) *with Diaz v. Senkowski*, 76 F.3d 61, 63 (2d Cir. 1996) (suspect's statement "do you think I need a lawyer" was ambiguous within the meaning of *Davis*); *Burket v Angelone*, 208 F.3d 172, 198 (4th Cir. 2000) ("I think I need a lawyer" does not constitute an unequivocal request for counsel).

Here, there was a discussion in which the defendant asked whether or not he needed an attorney (VRP 24-25). His initial statement was "I don't know, I think I should probably have an attorney present.... Telling you, I mean, I don't know" (VRP 24-25, emphasis added). He was advised that the determination was solely his to make. He never made any statements that would have arisen to an unequivocal demand for an attorney. Following a colloquy, in which the detectives allowed him to ponder his options, Mr. Harris responded "Lets just get it done" (VRP 25). The detectives, uncertain what he meant by that, clarified with him, asking him if he was waiving his

right to an attorney and was willing to speak with them, to which he responded "Yes" (VRP 26). Specifically, he stated that he did not want to speak with an attorney, and agreed that was the case both before and immediately at the end of the interview. The court should find that the defendant did not make a request for an attorney, and specifically waived that right in agreeing to speak with the detectives. His statement was ambiguous, as it was surrounded with "I don't know", before and after, clearly showing he was thinking about his response, but not yet ready to respond to the question. After a period of time, where he was allowed to think about it, he clearly waived his rights to an attorney and agreed to speak with the detectives. Given the totality of the circumstances, the initial statement was an ambiguous request, at best. The fact of the waiver was clarified once more, at the conclusion of the interview (VRP 48), resolving any doubt that this was a voluntary waiver, resolving any ambiguity in favor of a waiver.

B) ISSUE TWO: DID THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDE SELF SERVING HEARSAY WHICH IS NOT IMPEACHMENT? YES.

Evidence of out-of-court statements offered for proof of the matters asserted therein is hearsay; however, out-of-court admissions by a party, although hearsay, may be admissible if they are relevant. If such out-of-court statements are self-serving in that they tend to aid the party's case, then the statements are not admissible under the admission exception to the hearsay rule. State v. Haga, 8 Wash.App. 481, 507 P.2d 159 (1973).

Out-of-court admissions by a party, although hearsay, may be admissible against the party if they are relevant. 5 Meisenholder, Wash.Prac. s 421 et seq. (1965); C. McCormick, Evidence s 239 (1954). However, if an out-of-court admission by a party is self-serving, in the sense that it tends to aid his case, and is offered for the truth of the matter asserted, then such statement is not admissible under the admission exception to the hearsay rule. State v. King, 71 Wash.2d 573, 577, 429 P.2d 914 (1967); State v. Johnson, 60 Wash.2d 21, 31, 371 P.2d 611 (1962); Finally, out-of-court admissions of a party are not admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule when they are self-serving. State v. Huff, 3 Wash.App. 632, 636, 477 P.2d 22 (1970); ER 801(d)(2).

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